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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. ________________________                        

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION (a Colorado Corporation), d/b/a CENTER
FOR RIGHTS OF PARENTS WITH DISABILITIES

Plaintiff,

v.

LITTLETON HOUSING AUTHORITY, COLORADO and ENGLEWOOD HOUSING
AUTHORITY, COLORADO

Defendants.  
                                                                                                                                                            

COMPLAINT
                                                                                                                                                            

Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition d/b/a Center for Rights of Parents with

Disabilities, by and through its attorneys, Carrie Ann Lucas, Equal Justice Works Fellow, and

Kevin W. Williams, Legal Program Director, of the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition, and

Fox & Robertson, P.C., hereby bring this Complaint against the Littleton Housing Authority and

the Englewood Housing Authority for violations of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. 3601 et. seq.

Introduction

1. For nearly eighteen years, public housing providers administering subsidized

housing programs have been prohibited from discriminating against families with children when

renting apartments.  Despite this prohibition, the Englewood and Littleton Housing Authorities

continue to discriminate against parents with disabilities by refusing to allow parents who have

disabilities from residing in units set aside for people with disabilities if they also have a child. 
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2. Finding affordable and accessible housing is extremely difficult for all low-

income individuals with disabilities.   Public housing authorities control a substantial portion of

subsidized accessible housing units, and Defendants’ discrimination has removed those units

from the market for parents with disabilities.

3. The problem is especially severe for parents who have disabilities because the do

not simply risk homelessness; they also risk losing custody of their children if they are homeless. 

 When parents with disabilities are unable to find housing, the parents often face

institutionalization in nursing homes and other facilities where they cannot bring their children,

and their children are then placed in foster care leading to the permanent destruction of their

families.   Without housing, these parents can never regain custody of their children.

Jurisdiction and Venue

4. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claim in this action pursuant to 28

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343. 

5. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

Parties

6. Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition, d/b/a Center for Rights of Parents

with Disabilities (“CRPD”) is a Colorado non-profit corporation whose members are persons

with disabilities and their nondisabled allies.

7. Defendant Littleton Housing Authority (“LHA”) is a governmental entity

organized pursuant to Colo. Rev. Stat. § 29-4-201 et. seq.  LHA owns and or operates apartment

buildings, including but not limited to Amity Plaza and Alyson Court, that house low-income

elderly and disabled renters.  LHA receives federal financial assistance to subsidize low-income
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renters.

8. Defendant Englewood Housing Authority (“EHA”) is a governmental entity

organized pursuant to Colo. Rev. Stat. § 29-4-201 et. seq.  EHA owns and or operates apartment

buildings, including but not limited to Orchard Place and the Simon Center, that house low-

income elderly and disabled renters.  EHA receives federal financial assistance to subsidize low-

income renters.  

General Allegations

9. While developing a resource guide for parents with disabilities, CRPD staff

discovered building managers at LHA and EHA buildings were telling potential renters that

otherwise qualified individuals with disabilities who had a child were prohibited from residing at

buildings set aside for people with disabilities and elderly people. 

10. On or about September 14, 2005, CRPD wrote to the LHA and EHA asking them

to change this policy and allow minor family members of otherwise eligible renters to reside in

the buildings, subject to non-discriminatory occupancy restrictions.  

11. On or about September 29, 2005, CRPD received a letter from the LHA and

EHA’s attorney, Lee A. Applegate, who stated the LHA and EHA did not have discriminatory

policies.  In a subsequent telephone call, Ms. Applegate assured CRPD that the LHA and EHA

allow children in their buildings, and that CRPD had been given incorrect information by

apartment staff.  

12. On June 6, 2006, CRPD staff member, Andrew Montoya, called the Alyson Court

Apartments which are owned and operated by LHA.  Mr. Montoya asked about an apartment for

a wheelchair user and a four-year old child.  Mr. Montoya talked to Mac who said children were
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not allowed at Alyson Court.  Mac suggested that Mr. Montoya contact the LHA directly since

they own the building. 

13. On June 7, 2006, Mr. Montoya called Amity Plaza Apartments which are owned

and operated by LHA.  Mr. Montoya asked about an apartment for a wheelchair user and a four-

year old child. Mr. Montoya spoke to Joan who told him to contact the LHA directly. 

14. On June 7, 2006, Mr. Montoya called the LHA and spoke with Diane.  Mr.

Montoya asked about an apartment for a wheelchair user and a four-year old child.  Diane told

Mr. Montoya that children are not allowed at Amity Plaza or Alyson Court apartments.  Diane

then steered Mr. Montoya to family housing and to Atlantis, an independent living center.  

15. On June 13, 2006, Mr. Montoya called the EHA to inquire about apartments at

Orchard Place and Simon Center, both apartment buildings owned and operated by EHA.  Mr.

Montoya asked about an apartment for a wheelchair user and a four-year old child.  Mr. Montoya

spoke to Sharon Winekey who told him that no children are allowed in EHA’s senior and

disabled buildings.  Ms. Winekey told Mr. Montoya that EHA only has two high rise buildings. 

When Mr. Montoya asked for the names of the buildings so that he did not duplicate his search

efforts, Ms. Winekey told Mr. Montoya “You won’t need to know them if you don’t call in

Englewood.”

16. The EHA and LHA employees with whom CRPD and CCDC representatives

dealt were, at all times relevant to this matter, acting within the scope of their employment for

Defendants.

17. CRPD’s purpose is to promote independence, self-reliance, and full participation

for people with all types of disabilities and to combat discrimination that impacts parenting for
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parents with disabilities, through direct services, education, research and training.  As part of that

purpose, CRPD seeks to ensure that parents with disabilities have access to -- and do not

encounter discrimination in -- subsidized housing such as that provided by LHA and EHA.  

18. CRPD engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts

to promote access for and combat discrimination against parents with disabilities.  This effort

and this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by LHA and EHA’s violations

of the Fair Housing Act.  

19. LHA and EHA’s actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable, and

perceptible injury to CRPD.  Those injuries include but are not limited to those described herein.

20. CRPD has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to communicating with Defendants in an attempt to

secure non-discriminatory housing policies to open the door for other CRPD members to become

residents at LHA and EHA buildings.

21. CRPD has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to educate members and others who have been

injured by Defendants’ discrimination.  

22. LHA and EHA’s discrimination has been and continues to be a barrier to the full

participation of persons with disabilities and, therefore, frustrates CRPD’s ability to achieve full

inclusion for persons with disabilities.  For example: 

a. LHA and EHA’s discrimination, in and of itself, decreases the number of

subsidized accessible units available to parents with disabilities;

b. LHA and EHA’s actions send the message that such discrimination
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continues to be acceptable at this time; and discourages parents with

disabilities from seeking subsidized units in buildings designated for

people with disabilities and the elderly; 

23. LHA and EHA’s discrimination has required and continues to require CRPD to

make a greater effort -- and to allocate significant resources -- to educate the public that such

discrimination is wrong and otherwise to counteract the adverse impact of such discrimination.  

This perceptibly impairs CRPD’s counseling, advocacy, educational, and training missions.

24. CRPD also has devoted and continues to devote resources -- including but not

limited to those devoted to the present lawsuit -- to identifying and counteracting the sources of

discrimination in the community, including that of LHA and EHA.

25. CRPD’s injuries -- including, without limitation, those described herein -- are

traceable to LHA and EHA’s discriminatory conduct alleged in this Complaint and will be

redressed by the relief requested in it.

Claim for Relief
(Violations of the Fair Housing Act)

26. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the remainder of the allegations

set forth in this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

27. The Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601, et seq., requires fair housing and

prohibits discrimination in the provision of housing.

28. Defendants are entities subject to the requirements of the Fair Housing Act.

29. 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a) makes it unlawful to refuse to sell or rent after the making of

a bona fide offer, or to refuse to negotiate for the sale or rental of, or otherwise make unavailable

or deny, a dwelling to any person because of familial status.
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30. 42 U.S.C. § 3604(d) makes it unlawful to represent to any person because of

familial status that any dwelling is not available for inspection, sale, or rental when such

dwelling is in fact so available.

31. 24 C.F.R. § 100.70(a) makes it unlawful to restrict or attempt to restrict the

choices of a person by word or conduct in connection with seeking, negotiating for, buying or

renting a dwelling so as to perpetuate, or tend to perpetuate, segregated housing patterns, or to

discourage or obstruct choices in a community, neighborhood or development because of

familial status.

32. Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiff on the basis of disability and

family status.  Defendants’ discriminatory conduct includes but is not limited to:

a. Refusing to negotiate for the rental or otherwise make unavailable

housing based upon familial status;

b. Representing to potential renters that they are ineligible for

housing when official LHA and EHA policy is that potential

renters may be eligible;

c. Discouraging potential renters from seeking housing by describing

potential drawbacks to the desired buildings, and attempting to

assign potential renters to specific buildings and programs when

they are eligible for all of them.

33. As such, Defendants discriminate and, in the absence of the injunction requested

herein, will continue in the future to discriminate against Plaintiff on the basis of familial status

in the provision of housing in violation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §3601 et. seq., and/or
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its implementing regulations.

34. Plaintiff and its members have been injured by Defendant’s discrimination.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray:

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;

2. That this Court issue an order declaring the Defendants to be in violation of the

Fair Housing Act;

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering the Defendants provide housing in

compliance with the Fair Housing Act; 

4. That this Court award Plaintiff damages under the Fair Housing act;

5. That this Court award Plaintiff its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable.

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiff demands a jury on all issues which can be heard by a jury.

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Carrie Ann Lucas           
Carrie Ann Lucas
Center for Rights of Parents with Disabilities Director
Kevin W. Williams
Legal Program Director
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO  80203
303.839.1775
clucas@ccdconline.org
kwilliams@ccdconline.org

Amy F. Robertson
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Timothy P. Fox
Fox & Robertson, P.C.
910 - 16th Street, Suite 610
Denver, CO 80202 
303.595.9700
arob@foxrob.com 

Dated: June 27, 2006 Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross Disability Coalition d/b/a Center for Rights of Parents with
Disabilities:
655 Broadway
Suite 775
Denver, CO  80203


